

# COMMUNITY FOREST AGREEMENT K4R

Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural Resource Operations

THIS AGREEMENT, dated for reference 2016

#### BETWEEN:

HER MAJESTY THE QUEEN IN RIGHT
OF THE PROVINCE OF BRITISH COLUMBIA,
as represented by the Regional Executive Director,
MINISTRY OF FORESTS, LANDS AND
NATURAL RESOURCE OPERATIONS
183 HIGHWAY 16 WEST
BURNS LAKE, BRITISH COLUMBIA
VOJ 1E0
Phone: 250-692-2200 Fax: 250-692-7461
(the "Regional Executive Director")

#### AND:

CHINOOK COMFOR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP C/O 47805 OLSON ROAD BURNS LAKE, BRITISH COLUMBIA VOJ 1E4 (the "Agreement Holder")

#### WHEREAS:

- A. The Minister of Forest, Lands and Natural Resource Operations has offered this agreement to the eight partners consisting of the Regional District of Bulkley Nechako; The Village of Burns lake, Lake Babine Nation, Skin Tyce Nation, Nee Tahi Buhn First Nation, Burns Lake First Nation, Cheslatta Carrier Nation, Wet'suwet'en First Nation in order to provide economic prosperity, local management over a portion of the provincial forest and greater community control and management of crown land and community interface areas to the residents in the Lakes Timber Supply Area.
- B. The parties have entered into this Community Forest Agreement pursuant to section 43.2 of the *Forest Act*.

"The Table of Contents and headings in this Agreement are included for convenience only and do not form a part of this Agreement and in no way define, limit, alter or enlarge the scope or meaning of any provision of this Agreement."

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 00	GRANT OF RIGHTS AND TERM	4	
1.00	GRANI OF RIGHTS AND TERM	5	
2.00	OTHER CONDITIONS AND REQUIREMENTS	·	
3.00	TIMBER VOLUME CHARGED TO THE AGREEMENT	5	
4.00	CUT CONTROL	6	
5.00	WASTE ASSESSMENT		
6.00	MANAGEMENT PLAN		
7.00	CUTTING PERMITS	10	
8.00	ACCESS	13	
9.00	COURT DETERMINED ABORIGINAL RIGHTS AND/OR TITLE		
10.00	REPORTING		
11.00	FINANCIAL	16	
12.00	REPRESENTATIONS	17	
13.00	LIABILITY AND INDEMNITY	17	
14.00	TERMINATION		
15.00	WAIVER	19	
16.00	NOTICE	19	
17.00	MISCELLANEOUS		
18.00	INTERPRETATION & DEFINITIONS		
SCHEDULE "A"			
SCHEDULE "B"27			
SCHEDULE "C"			
SCHEDULE "D"			
THE THE TEST   THE			

## THE PARTIES agree as follows:

#### 1.00 GRANT OF RIGHTS AND TERM

- 1.01 The term of this Agreement is 25 years, beginning on February 12, 2016
- 1.02 Subject to this Agreement, the Minister grants the Agreement Holder during the term of this Agreement:
  - (a) the exclusive right to harvest Crown timber from Schedule "B" Land;
  - (b) the right to manage Schedule "B" Land according to:
    - (i) this Agreement;
    - (ii) the management plan in effect under this Agreement; and
    - (iii) operational plans approved in respect of this Agreement;
  - (c) the right to harvest, manage and charge fees for botanical forest products and other prescribed products as listed in Schedule "C", from Schedule "B" Land.
- 1.03 The Agreement Holder must not harvest timber:
  - (a) from Schedule "A" Land except under a cutting permit; or
  - (b) from Schedule "B" Land except under a cutting permit or road permit.
- 1.04 Subject to paragraph 1.05, the Agreement Holder will not enter, use or occupy Schedule "B" Land:
  - (a) except under and in accordance with a cutting permit, road permit associated with the Agreement, special use permit, as well as an activity described in an approved management plan; or
  - (b) as otherwise authorized under the forestry legislation.
- 1.05 Paragraph 1.04 does not apply to temporary use or occupation for the purpose of:
  - (a) carrying out silviculture treatments;
  - (b) collecting inventory information;
  - (c) doing engineering layouts and surveys;

- (d) carrying out protection activities under the forestry legislation; or
- (e) fulfilling other obligations or conducting other activities incidental to the operations of the Agreement Holder under or associated with this Agreement.
- 1.06 Subparagraph 1.03 (a) does not apply to:
  - (a) a reserve as defined under the *Indian Act (Canada)*; or
  - (b) a road clearing width on private land.

## 2.00 OTHER CONDITIONS AND REQUIREMENTS

- 2.01 The Agreement Holder must not fell standing timber, or must not buck or remove felled or dead and down timber, as the case may be, if the timber is specified as reserved timber in a cutting permit.
- 2.02 The Agreement Holder must comply with the other conditions and requirements specified in Schedule "D" in addition to any special conditions set out in a cutting permit or a road permit associated with the Agreement.
- 2.03 The Agreement Holder must conduct at least one formal public meeting each calendar year in a format satisfactory to the District Manager for the purposes of informing the general public of the activities the Agreement Holder proposes to undertake with respect to this Agreement.
- 2.04 Notwithstanding paragraph 1.01 above, the Agreement Holder, in conducting a formal public meeting(s), and in informing the general public of the activities the Agreement Holder proposes to undertake, will:
  - a) actively promote ongoing public awareness of the community forest activities and governance processes, and
  - b) report on the agreement holder's performance against requirements stated within subparagraphs 6.02 (i), (j) and (k) of this Agreement.

# 3.00 TIMBER VOLUME CHARGED TO THE AGREEMENT

- 3.01 The definition of the volume of timber harvested in part 4, division 3.1 of the *Forest Act* applies to this Agreement.
- 3.02 The determination of the volume of timber harvested will incorporate the volume of waste determined under part 5.00.

3.03 The Interior standard timber merchantability specifications in the Provincial Logging Residue and Waste Measurement Procedures Manual that was in effect on the date of issuance of the cutting permit or road permit, shall govern.

## 4.00 CUT CONTROL

- 4.01 The provisions of cut control for major licences under Part 4, Division 3.1 of the *Forest Act*, that apply to "Forest Licences that specifiy an allowable annual cut greater than 10,000 m<sup>3</sup> and have a term of more than 5 years" applies to this Community Forest Agreement
- 4.02 If the volume of timber harvested during a cut control period for this Agreement is less than the sum of the allowable annual cuts for that period that are authorized under this Agreement, the Agreement Holder must not harvest that unharvested volume of timber in a subsequent cut control period.
- 4.03 The unharvested volume of timber, referred to in paragraph 4.02, may be disposed of, by the Regional Executive Director to a person other than the Agreement Holder.

#### 5.00 WASTE ASSESSMENT

- 5.01 The Agreement Holder must conduct a waste assessment of the volume of merchantable timber, whether standing or felled, that was authorized to be cut and removed under the Agreement but, at the Agreement Holder's discretion, was not cut and removed.
- 5.02 A waste assessment conducted under paragraph 5.01 must be in accordance with the Provincial Logging Residue and Waste Measurement Procedures Manual, as amended or replaced from time to time.
- 5.03 A waste assessment made under paragraph 5.01 must be:
  - done within 60 days of the Agreement Holder declaring that primary logging on the area has been completed for each cutblock, allowing for ground to be sufficiently free of snow to permit an adequate assessment to be carried out; or
  - (b) if primary logging on the area is not completed before the expiry of the cutting permit, within 60 days after the expiry of the cutting permit, allowing the ground to be sufficiently free of snow to permit for an adequate assessment to be carried out.

- 5.04 If the Agreement Holder fails to comply with paragraph 5.01 the District Manager may, after the expiry of the term of a cutting permit or Agreement, conduct a waste assessment of the volume of merchantable timber that could have been cut and removed under the Agreement but, at the Agreement Holder's discretion, is not cut and removed.
- 5.05 A waste assessment conducted under paragraph 5.04 must be in accordance with the Provincial Logging Residue and Waste Measurement Procedures Manual, as amended from time to time.
- 5.06 If the District Manager carries out a waste assessment under paragraph 5.04, the District Manager, in a notice given to the Agreement Holder, may require the Agreement Holder to pay the costs incurred by the District Manager in carrying out the assessment.

#### 6.00 MANAGEMENT PLAN

- 6.01 The Agreement Holder must submit a proposed management plan to the Regional Executive Director or District Manager on a date specified by the Regional Executive Director or District Manager in a notice given to the Agreement Holder.
- 6.02 A proposed management plan submitted under paragraph 6.01 or subparagraph 6.04(b) must:
  - (a) be prepared in accordance with any directions of the Regional Executive Director or District Manager;
  - (b) be consistent with:
    - this Agreement;
    - (ii) the forestry legislation;
    - (iii) higher level plans under the Forest and Range Practices Act; and
    - (iv) commitments made in the Community Forest Agreement application package or as agreed to by both parties to this agreement.
  - (c) include existing inventories:
    - (i) for the timber in the Community Forest Agreement area; and
    - (ii) for botanical forest products and other prescribed products listed in Schedule "C";

- (d) include any other inventories and information regarding the development, management and use of the Community Forest Agreement area that the Regional Executive Director or District Manager requires to determine the allowable annual cut for the Community Forest Agreement area and rate of harvest of botanical forest products and other prescribed products listed in Schedule "C";
- (e) propose a allowable annual cut for the Community Forest Agreement area which considers the following:
  - (i) inventories and other information referred to in subparagraph 6.02 (c) and (d);
  - (ii) timber specifications proposed for the timber resources in the Community Forest Agreement area;
  - (iii) reductions that are necessary to facilitate the management and conservation of non-timber resource values in the Community Forest Agreement area, including visual quality, biological diversity, soils, recreation resources, cultural heritage resources, range land, wildlife, water and fish habitats;
  - (iv) silviculture practices and forest health factors that may impact on timber production;
  - (v) the anticipated impact of the reductions to the productive portion of the Community Forest Agreement area due to permanent roads, landings, pits and trails; and
  - (vi) any other factors that may impact on the allowable annual cut during each year;
- (f) contain a rational for the allowable annual cut referred to in subparagraph 6.02 (e) prepared in accordance with any directions of the Regional Executive Director or District Manager;
- (g) propose management objectives for the Community Forest Agreement area regarding the harvesting, management of, and the charging fees for prescribed products listed in Schedule "C",
- (h) specify measures to be taken by the Agreement Holder to identify and consult with persons using the Community Forest Agreement area for purposes other than timber production and harvesting of prescribed products listed in Schedule "C", including:
  - (i) trappers, guide outfitters, range tenure holders, and other Agreement resource users;

- (ii) an aboriginal group who may be exercising or claiming to hold aboriginal interest or treaty rights; and
- (iii) community members, local governments, and government agencies.
- (i) include the agreement holder's values or guiding principles,
- (j) contain the broad social, economic and resource management goals proposed for the CFA,
- identify the linkage between the CFA goals and the provincial CFA Program goals, and
- (l) include a plan for annual reporting out to the community on subparagraphs 6.02 (i), (j) and (k).
- 6.03 The Regional Executive Director or District Manager within 90 days of receiving a proposed management plan submitted under paragraph 6.01 or subparagraph 6.04 (b), will, in a notice given to the Agreement Holder, approve the proposed management plan, subject to such conditions as the Regional Executive Director or District Manager considers necessary or appropriate, if the Regional Executive Director or District Manager is satisfied the proposed management plan meets the requirements of paragraph 6.02.
- 6.04 If the Regional Executive Director or District Manager does not approve a proposed management plan under paragraph 6.03:
  - (a) the Regional Executive Director or District Manager, within 90 days after the date on which the Regional Executive Director or District Manager receives the proposed management plan, will specify in a notice given to the Agreement Holder the reason why the proposed management plan was not approved; and
  - (b) the Agreement Holder, within 30 days, or an alternative period of time specified by the Regional Executive Director or District Manager in a notice to the Agreement Holder, after the date on which the Agreement Holder is given the notice referred to in subparagraph 6.04 (a), must submit a new or revised proposed management plan to the Regional Executive Director or District' Manager.
- 6.05 Subject to paragraph 6.06, the management plan in effect under this Agreement expires three months after the date upon which the Agreement Holder is required to submit a proposed management plan pursuant to a notice given to the Agreement Holder under paragraph 6.01.
- 6.06 If:

- (a) the Regional Executive Director or District Manager, within three months after the date on which the Regional Executive Director or District Manager receives a proposed management plan submitted under paragraph 6.01, has neither:
  - (i) approved the proposed management plan under paragraph 6.03; nor
  - (ii) given the Agreement Holder a notice referred to in subparagraph 6.04 (a); and
- (b) there is a management plan in effect under this Agreement;

then the term of the management plan referred to in subparagraph (b) is deemed to be extended until such time as the Regional Executive Director or District Manager approves the proposed management plan under paragraph 6.03, or gives the Agreement Holder a notice referred to in subparagraph 6.04 (a), as the case may be.

- 6.07 The Agreement Holder must manage Schedule "A" Land and Schedule "B" Land in accordance with the management plan in effect under this Agreement.
- 6.08 A management plan approved by the Regional Executive Director or District Manager under paragraph 6.03 is deemed to be part of this Agreement during the period the management plan remains in effect.
- 6.09 The Regional Executive Director or District Manager, in a notice given to the Agreement Holder, may require the Agreement Holder to submit an amendment to the management plan.

#### 7.00 CUTTING PERMITS

- 7.01 Subject to paragraphs 7.02 through 7.04 inclusive, the Agreement Holder may submit an application to the District Manager for a cutting permit or for an amendment to a cutting permit to authorize the Agreement Holder to harvest timber from one or more proximate areas of land within the Community Forest Agreement area, meeting the requirements referred to in parts 1.00 and 2.00 and the Appraisal Manual in effect on the date of submission of the application for a cutting permit, an application to amend a cutting permit, or a road permit that are:
  - (a) exempted under the *Forest and Range Practices Act* from the requirement for a forest stewardship plan; or
  - (b) located within a forest development unit of an approved forest stewardship plan.

- 7.02 For those areas to be included in the application under paragraph 7.01, the Agreement Holder must ensure that data submitted is gathered and compiled according to that Appraisal Manual.
- 7.03 An application under paragraph 7.01 must:
  - (a) be in a form established by the District Manager;
  - (b) state a proposed term that does not exceed four years;
  - (c) include:
    - (i) a map to a scale acceptable to the District Manager showing the areas referred to in the application; and
    - (ii) the information referred to in paragraph 7.02; and
    - (iii) a description acceptable to the District Manager of any timber that is reserved from cutting.
- 7.04 The areas of land shown on the map referred to in clause 7.03 (c) (i) must be:
  - (a) the areas referred to in subparagraph 7.01 (a); or
  - (b) located within a forest development unit referred to in subparagraph 7.01 (b) allowing for any difference in scale between maps used in the forest stewardship plan, or exemption and the map referred to in clause 7.03 (c) (i).
- 7.05 Subject to paragraphs 7.06 through 7.09 inclusive, 7.04 and 9.01, upon receipt of an application under paragraph 7.01, the District Manager will issue a cutting permit to the Agreement Holder if the District Manager is satisfied that:
  - (a) there is a management plan in effect under this Agreement;
  - (b) the requirements of paragraphs 7.01, 7.02, 7.03, and 7.04 have been met;
  - (c) the areas of land referred to in the application for the cutting permit meet the requirements referred to in Schedule "D"; and
  - (d) the District Manager is satisfied that activities and operations under or associated with the cutting permit will be consistent with this Agreement, higher level plans, the management plan referred to in subparagraph 7.05 (a), and any operational plans approved in respect of the areas of land referred to in the cutting permit.

- 7.06 The District Manager may consult aboriginal group(s) who may be exercising or claiming to hold an aboriginal interest(s) or proven aboriginal right(s), including aboriginal title, or treaty right(s) if in the opinion of the District Manager, issuance of the cutting permit or an amendment to a cutting permit as submitted and/or operations under the cutting permit may result in:
  - an impact to an aboriginal interest(s) that may require consideration of accommodation; or
  - (b) an infringement of a proven aboriginal right(s), including aboriginal title, or treaty right(s) that may require justification.
- 7.07 The District Manager may impose conditions in a cutting permit to address an aboriginal interest(s), or proven aboriginal right, including aboriginal title, or a treaty right(s) if in the opinion of the District Manager, issuance of the cutting permit as submitted would result in:
  - (a) an impact to an aboriginal interest(s) that would require consideration of accommodation; or
  - (b) an infringement of a proven aboriginal right(s), including aboriginal title, or treaty right(s) that would require justification.
- 7.08 The District Manager may refuse to issue a cutting permit or to amend a cutting permit if in the opinion of the District Manager issuance of the cutting permit or an amendment to a cutting permit would result in:
  - (a) an impact to an aboriginal interest(s) or treaty right(s) that could not be reasonably accommodated; or
  - (b) an impact to a proven aboriginal right(s), including aboriginal title, or a treaty right(s) that could not be justified.

# 7.09 If the District Manager:

- (a) determines that a cutting permit may not be issued because the requirements of paragraph 7.05 have not been met;
- (b) is carrying out consultations under paragraph 7.06; or
- (c) refuses to issue a cutting permit under paragraph 7.08;

the District Manager will notify the Agreement Holder within 45 days of the date on which the application for the cutting permit, or an amendment to the cutting permit was received.

7.10 A cutting permit must:

- identify the boundaries within the Community Forest Agreement area upon which, subject to this Agreement and the forestry legislation, the Agreement Holder is authorized to conduct operations;
- (b) specify the term stated in the application;
- (c) specify a timber mark to be used in conjunction with the timber removal carried on under the cutting permit;
- (d) specify whether, for the purpose of determining the amount of stumpage payable in respect of timber removed under the cutting permit, the volume and quantity of timber is to be determined using information provided by:
  - (i) a scale of the timber; or
  - (ii) a cruise of the timber conducted before the timber is cut;
- (e) specify any timber that is reserved from cutting; and
- (f) include such other provisions, consistent with this Agreement, as determined by the District Manager.
- 7.11 The District Manager may amend a cutting permit only with the consent of the Agreement Holder.
- 7.12 The Agreement Holder may only make application to the District Manager for a cutting permit extension at least 45 days before the expiry of the cutting permit and in a form acceptable to the District Manager.
- 7.13 A cutting permit is deemed to be part of this Agreement.

#### 8.00 ACCESS

- 8.01 Nothing in this Agreement authorizes the Agreement Holder to in any way restrict the Crown's right of access to Crown lands.
- 8.02 Any Ministry employee may:
  - (a) enter onto Schedule "A" Land; and
  - (b) use roads owned or deemed to be owned by the Agreement Holder;

for the purpose of inspecting the Agreement Holder's activities under or associated with this Agreement, and for the purpose of fulfilling an obligation or exercising a right under this Agreement.

8.03 The Agreement Holder will allow any person who has been granted rights to timber referred to in paragraph 4.03 or under the *Forest Act*, to use any

road referred to in subparagraph 8.02 (b) for the purpose of exercising rights or fulfilling obligations within the Community Forest Agreement area.

# 9.00 COURT DETERMINED ABORIGINAL RIGHTS AND/OR TITLE

- 9.01 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, if a court of competent jurisdiction:
  - (a) determines that activities or operations under or pursuant to this Agreement will unjustifiably infringe an aboriginal right and/or title or treaty right;
  - (b) grants an injunction further to a determination referred to in subparagraph 9.01 (a); or
  - (c) grants an injunction pending a determination of whether activities or operations under or pursuant to this Agreement will unjustifiably infringe an aboriginal right and/or title or treaty right;

the Regional Executive Director or District Manager, in a notice given to the Agreement Holder, may vary or suspend, in whole or in part, or refuse to issue a cutting permit, road permit or other permit issued to the Agreement Holder, so as to be consistent with the court determination.

- 9.02 Subject to this Agreement and the forestry legislation, if:
  - (a) under paragraph 9.01, the Regional Executive Director or District Manager has varied a cutting permit, road permit or other permits issued to the Agreement Holder;
  - a court of competent jurisdiction subsequently overturns, sets aside or dissolves the determination or injunction referred to in that paragraph; and
  - (c) it is practical to do so;

the Regional Executive Director or District Manager, at the request of the Agreement Holder, will vary the permit to reflect as closely as possible, for the remainder of its term, the terms and conditions of the permit prior to the variation under paragraph 9.01.

- 9.03 Subject to this Agreement and the forestry legislation, if:
  - (a) under paragraph 9.01, the Regional Executive Director or District Manager has suspended a cutting permit, road permit or other permits issued to the Agreement Holder;

- (b) a court of competent jurisdiction subsequently overturns, sets aside or dissolves the determination or injunction referred to in that paragraph; and
- (c) it is practical to do so;

the Regional Executive Director or District Manager, at the request of the Agreement Holder, will reinstate the permit for the remainder of its term.

- 9.04 Subject to this Agreement and the forestry legislation, if:
  - (a) under paragraph 9.01, the Regional Executive Director or District Manager has refused to issue a cutting permit, road permit or other permits issued to the Agreement Holder;
  - (b) a court of competent jurisdiction subsequently overturns, sets aside or dissolves the determination or injunction referred to in that paragraph; and
  - (c) it is practical to do so;

the Regional Executive Director or District Manager, at the request of the Agreement Holder, will issue the permit.

#### 10.00 REPORTING

- 10.01 The Regional Executive Director or District Manager, in a notice given to the Agreement Holder, may at any time, require the Agreement Holder to carry out audits and submit reports containing such information as the Government requires concerning:
  - (a) the Agreement Holder's performance of its obligations under or in respect of this Agreement, the approved management plan and conditions from the Regional Executive Director or District Manager's management plan approval letter;
  - (b) the processing, use or disposition of timber and the products listed in Schedule "C" which are harvested under this Agreement;
  - (c) the levies or fees collected by the Agreement Holder for any types of activities conducted or occurring on Schedule "B" Land;
  - (d) the services or opportunities provided by the Agreement Holder such as wildlife viewing, hiking, and nature interpretation; and
  - financial statements prepared by a qualified accountant capturing economic activity attributable to the operation of this Agreement;

- in the previous calendar year if the information is not included in any other reports which the Agreement Holder must submit under the forestry legislation.
- 10.02 Upon receipt of a notice referred to in paragraph 10.01 the Agreement Holder, on or before the date specified in the notice, must submit a report to the Regional Executive Director or District Manager containing the required information.
- 10.03 Subject to the *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act*, the Regional Executive Director or District Manager will not disclose information provided in confidence by the Agreement Holder in any reports submitted under paragraph 10.02.
- 10.04 Subject to paragraph 10.03, the Regional Executive Director or District Manager may include the information contained in a report submitted under paragraph 10.01 in any reports prepared by the Ministry for public review.
- 10.05 Subject to paragraph 10.03, the Regional Executive Director or District Manager may require the Agreement Holder to make available to the public information required under paragraph 10.01 and carry out consultation activities with the public concerning matters relating to this Agreement.

#### 11.00 FINANCIAL

- 11.01 In addition to any money payable in respect of this Agreement or a road permit under the forestry legislation, the Agreement Holder must pay to the Crown, immediately upon receipt of a notice, statement or invoice issued on behalf of the Crown:
  - (a) stumpage under part 7 of the *Forest Act* in respect of timber removed:
    - (i) under a cutting permit from Schedule "B" Land; or
    - (ii) under a road permit;
    - at rates determined, redetermined and varied under section 105 of that Act;
  - (b) waste assessments for merchantable Crown timber, whether standing or felled, that could have been cut and removed under the community forest agreement, but, at the holder's discretion, is not cut and removed, and
  - (c) annual rent at a rate in accordance with the schedule found in the Annual Rent Regulation.

#### 12.00 REPRESENTATIONS

- 12.01 The Agreement Holder represents and warrants that the Agreement Holder:
  - (a) is a partnership comprised of:
    - (i) a first nation;
    - (ii) a municipality or regional district;
    - (iii) corporations established by or under an enactment, or registered as an extraprovincial company under the Business Corporations Act;
    - (iv) a combination of the above
- 12.02 The licensee, excluding those holding the licence in their individual capacity or as a First Nation recorded in Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development Canada Registration System, must be registered to do business under the *Business Corporations Act*, and the licensee maintain such registration in good standing throughout the term of the licence.

## 13.00 LIABILITY AND INDEMNITY

- 13.01 Subject to paragraph 13.03, the Agreement Holder must indemnify the Crown against and save it harmless from all claims, demands, suits, actions, causes of action, costs, expenses and losses faced, incurred or suffered by the Crown as a result, directly or indirectly, of any act or omission of:
  - (a) the Agreement Holder;
  - (b) an employee of the Agreement Holder;
  - (c) an agent of the Agreement Holder;
  - (d) a contractor of the Agreement Holder who engages in any activity or carries out any operation, including but not restricted to the Agreement Holder's operations, under or associated with this Agreement or a cutting permit or a road permit; or
  - (e) any other person who on behalf of or with the consent of the Agreement Holder engages in any activity or carries out any operation, including but not restricted to the Agreement Holder's operations, under or associated with this Agreement or a cutting permit or a road permit.

- 13.02 For greater certainty, the Agreement Holder has no obligation to indemnify the Crown under paragraph 13.01 in respect of any act or omission of:
  - (a) an employee, agent or contractor of the Crown, in the course of carrying out his or her duties as employee, agent or contractor of the Crown; or
  - (b) a person, other than the Agreement Holder, to whom the Crown has granted the right to occupy Crown land, in the course of exercising those rights.
- 13.03 The Crown is not liable to the Agreement Holder for injuries, losses, expenses, or costs incurred or suffered by the Agreement Holder as a result, directly or indirectly, of an act or omission of a person who is not a party to this Agreement, including but not restricted to an act or omission of a person disrupting, stopping or otherwise interfering with the Agreement Holder's operations under this Agreement by road blocks or other means.
- 13.04 Any payments required under part 5.00, and payments required further to the indemnity referred to in paragraph 13.01 are in addition to and not in substitution for any other remedies available to the Crown in respect of a default of the Agreement Holder.

#### 14.00 TERMINATION

- 14.01 If this Agreement expires or is not replaced under section 43.4 of the Forest Act, or is surrendered, cancelled or otherwise terminated:
  - (a) all cutting permits will immediately terminate; and
  - (b) timber, including logs, special forest products or prescribed products listed in Schedule "C", cut under the authority of this Agreement and which are still located on Crown land, vest in the Crown, without right of compensation to the Agreement Holder; and
  - (c) unless otherwise agreed to between the District Manager and the Agreement Holder prior to the surrender, cancellation or termination of this Agreement, title to all improvements, including roads and bridges, constructed by the Agreement Holder on Crown land under the authority of this Agreement vest in the Crown, without right of compensation to the Agreement Holder; and
  - (d) subject to subparagraphs 14.01 (b) and (c) the Agreement Holder may continue to enter and use Crown Land for a period of one

month after the expiry or termination of this Agreement for the purpose of removing the Agreement Holder's property.

- 14.02 The Agreement Holder will not take away any improvements or remove any timber referred to in subparagraph 14.01 (b), unless authorized to do so by the Regional Executive Director.
- 14.03 If the Agreement Holder commits an act of bankruptcy, makes a general assignment of its creditors or otherwise acknowledges its insolvency the Agreement Holder is deemed to have failed to perform an obligation under this Agreement.

#### 15.00 WAIVER

15.01 No waiver by the Government of any default non-compliance by the Agreement Holder in the strict and literal performance of or compliance with any provision of the Agreement will be deemed to be a waiver of the strict and literal performance of or compliance with any other provision, condition or requirement of the Agreement or to be a waiver of, or in any manner release the Agreement Holder from compliance with any provision, condition or requirement in the future, nor will any delay or omission by the Government in the exercising of any right hereunder in any manner with respect to non-compliance impair the exercise of any such rights in the future.

#### 16.00 NOTICE

- 16.01 A notice given under this Agreement must be in writing.
- 16.02 A notice given under this Agreement may be:
  - (a) delivered by hand;
  - (b) sent by mail;
  - (c) email address, or
  - (d) subject to paragraph 16.05, sent by facsimile transmission;

to the address, email address or facsimile number, as applicable, specified on the first page of this Agreement, or to such other address, email address or facsimile number as is specified in a notice given in accordance with this part.

- 16.03 A notice given under this Agreement, is deemed to have been given:
  - (a) if it is given in accordance with subparagraph 16.02 (a), on the date it is delivered by hand;

- (b) if it is given in accordance with subparagraph 16.02 (b), subject to paragraph 16.04, on the eighth day after its deposit in a Canada Post Office at any place in Canada; and
- (c) if it is given in accordance with subparagraph 16.02 (c), subject to paragraph 16.05, on the date it is sent by email;
- (d) if it is given in accordance with subparagraph 16.02 (d), subject to paragraph 16.05, on the date it is sent by facsimile transmission.
- 16.04 If, between the times a notice is mailed in accordance with subparagraph 16.02 (b) and the time it is actually received, there occurs a postal strike, lockout or slowdown that might reasonably affect delivery of the notice, the notice is not deemed to be given until the party actually receives it.
- 16.05 If a notice is sent by email or facsimile transmission, the party sending the notice must take reasonable steps to ensure that the transmission has been successfully completed.
- 16.06 Either party may, from time to time, advise the other party by notice in writing, of any change of address, email address or facsimile number of the party giving such notice and, from and after the giving of such notice, the address, email address or facsimile number specified will, for purposes of this Licence, be considered to be the address, email address or facsimile number of the party giving such notice.

#### 17.00 MISCELLANEOUS

- 17.01 This Agreement will enure to the benefit of, and be binding on, the parties and their respective heirs, executors, successors and permitted assigns.
- 17.02 The laws of British Columbia will govern the interpretation of this Agreement and the performance of the Agreement Holder's obligations under this Agreement.
- 17.03 Any power conferred or duty imposed on the Regional Executive Director or District Manager under this Agreement may be exercised or fulfilled by any person authorized to do so by the Regional Executive Director or District Manager.
- 17.04 The schedules attached to this Agreement are deemed to be part of this Agreement.
- 17.05 Nothing in this Agreement or a cutting permit issued under this Agreement is to be construed as authorizing the Agreement Holder to engage in any activities or carry out any operations otherwise than in compliance with the requirements of the forestry legislation.

## 17.06 The Agreement Holder must:

- (a) comply with the forestry legislation; and
- (b) ensure that its employees, agents and contractors comply with the forestry legislation when engaging in or carrying out activities or operations under or associated with the Agreement.
- 17.07 Nothing in this Agreement entitles the Agreement Holder to have an area of Schedule "B" Land replaced with another area, or to have rights awarded under another Agreement under the *Forest Act*, in the event:
  - (a) timber is damaged or destroyed by pests, fire, wind or other natural causes;
  - (b) an area of land is deleted from the Community Forest Agreement area under the forestry legislation, or under any other Act or regulation; or
  - (c) this Agreement expires, is surrendered, is cancelled or otherwise terminated.
- 17.08 At the request of the Regional Executive Director or District Manager, the Agreement Holder will survey and define on the ground any or all boundaries of the Community Forest Agreement area.
- 17.09 Where harvesting of timber has been authorized under this Agreement, the District Manager in a notice to the Agreement Holder, may require the Agreement Holder to carry out a legal survey on the portions of the area to be operated upon that are adjacent to any Community Forest Agreement area boundaries.
- 17.10 This document contains the entire agreement and no additional terms are to be implied.

#### 18.00 INTERPRETATION & DEFINITIONS

18.01 This Agreement is divided into parts, paragraphs, subparagraphs, clauses and subclauses, illustrated as follows:

1.00 part;
1.01 paragraph;
(a) subparagraph;
(i) clause;
(a) subclause;

and a reference to a subparagraph, clause or subclause is to be construed as a reference to a subparagraph, clause or subclause of the paragraph, subparagraph or clause, as the case may be, in which the reference occurs.

18.02 In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires:

"aboriginal interest" means a potential aboriginal right and/or aboriginal title that has not been proven through a court process;

"allowable annual cut" means the allowable annual cut set under the management plan for the Agreement;

"botanical forest product" means any or all flora and fungi of the forest other than timber that occurs naturally on Crown forest land

"Community Forest Agreement area" means the area of lands identified in Schedules "A" and "B";

"cut control period" means the cut control period determined for this Agreement under part 4.00;

"cutting permit" means a cutting permit issued under this Agreement or an amendment for a cutting permit as the context requires;

"District Manager" means:

- a District Manager appointed under the Ministry of Forests Act, for a forest district in which all or part of the Agreement is situated; and
- (b) any person authorized by the District Manager to exercise a power or fulfill a duty under this Agreement;

"Forest Act" means the Forest Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 157, as amended from time to time, or the successor to that Act, if it is repealed;

"Forest and Range Practices Act" means the Forest and Range Practices Act, S.B.C. 2002, c. 69 as amended from time to time, or the successor to this Act, if it is repealed;

"forest stewardship plan" means a forest stewardship plan referred to in the *Forest and Range Practices Act*, that is prepared or approved by the Minister in respect of the Agreement;

"forestry legislation" means the statutes and regulations, to which the Agreement is subject including:

- (a) the Forest Act;
- (b) the Forest and Range Practices Act; and
- (c) the Wildlife Act.

"Government" means the Government of the Province of British Columbia:

"harvest" means:

- (a) cut;
- (b) remove;
- (c) cut and remove;

"management plan" means the management plan prepared and approved for this Agreement in accordance with part 6.00 of this Agreement;

"merchantable timber" means timber that meets or exceeds the timber merchantability specifications described in the Provincial Logging Residue and Waste Measurements Procedures Manual, as amended or replaced from time to time;

"Minister" means the Minister responsible for administering the *Forest Act*;

"Ministry" means the Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural Resource Operations;

"Ministry of Forests Act" means the Ministry of Forests Act R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 300;

"Ministry officer" means an employee of the Ministry;

"non-Crown land" means land that is private land or in a reserve as defined in the *Indian Act (Canada)* as described in the Schedule "A" to this Agreement;

"person" includes a corporation and a partnership, unless the context requires otherwise;

"pest" means any animal, insect, fungus, bacteria, virus, nematode, or other organism which is detrimental to effective forest management;

"primary logging" includes felling timber and yarding or forwarding the timber to central landings or road-sides, but not including the removal of the timber from these landings or road-sides;

"remove" means the removal of timber from the Community Forest Agreement area and "removed", "removal" and "removing" have the corresponding meanings; "resource agencies" means any governmental agency, Ministry or department having jurisdiction over a resource which may be affected by any activity or operation, including but not restricted to activities or operations, engaged in or carried out under or associated with this Agreement or a road permit;

"road permit" means a road permit entered into under the *Forest Act* which provides access to timber removed or to be removed, under this Agreement;

"Schedule "A" Land" means the non-Crown lands managed as part of the Community Forest Agreement area described in the Schedule "A" to this Agreement;

"Schedule "B" Land" means the Crown land described in Schedule "B" to this Agreement;

"special use permit" means a special use permit issued under the applicable forestry legislation, to authorize the Agreement Holder to use or occupy Crown land within the Community Forest Agreement area;

"timber merchantability specifications" means those found in the most current Provincial Logging Residue and Waste Procedures Manual, as amended or replaced from time to time;

"waste" means merchantable Crown timber that could have been cut and removed under this Agreement but that the Agreement Holder is not cut and removed as defined in the Provincial Logging Residue and Waste Measurements Procedures Manual, as amended or replaced from time to time.

- 18.03 Unless otherwise provided in paragraph 18.02, if a word or phrase used in this Agreement is defined in the *Forest Act*, or the *Forest and Range Practices Act* the definition in the Act applies to this Agreement, and where the word or phrase in the Act is replaced by a new word or phrase, this Agreement is deemed to have been amended accordingly.
- 18.04 If a provision of the *Forest Act*, or the *Forest and Range Practices Act* referred to in this Agreement is renumbered, the reference in this Agreement is to be construed as a reference to the provision as renumbered.
- 18.05 In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires:
  - (a) the singular includes the plural and the plural includes the singular; and
  - (b) the masculine, the feminine and the neuter are interchangeable.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF this Agreement has been executed by the District Manager and the Agreement Holder.

SIGNED by the )	
District Manager )	
on behalf of Her Majesty )	
the Queen in Right of )	
the Province of )	*
British Columbia )	
in the presence of: )	9.00
Signature )	Regional Executive Director Skeena Region
John Rustad)	February 12 2016  Dated
Printed Name	Dated
GICNIED 1 d	le & Long
SIGNED, by the )	
Agreement Holder )	Burns Lake First Nation
in the presence of:	Ø C CIC
	Wet survet en First Nation
John Mush	Wet salvet en tilst tvation
Signature	
	Lake Babine Nation
John Rustad	A D
Printed Name	of Mark
,	Cheslatta Carrier Nation
	1 1100
	Kay Mount X
	Nee Tahi Buhn First Nation
	M(h Class)
	Skin Type Mation Nation
	a de de la constitución
	ar ) access
	Regional District of Bulkley Nechako

Dated

Village of Burns Lake

## SCHEDULE "A"

## 1.00 DESCRIPTION OF NON-CROWN LANDS

1.01 NIL

## SCHEDULE "B"

## 1.00 DESCRIPTION OF CROWN LANDS

- 1.01 Refer to attached Exhibit "A" Refer to Attached map "K4R Chinook Community Forest 5Year Exclusion Areas".
- 1.03 The area under this license shall be those areas described in Exhibit "A" less those areas described in attached "K4R Chinook Community Forest 5Year Exclusion Areas" for the first five years of this agreement.
- 1.04 After the first five year period of this agreement the area under this license shall be those areas described in Exhibit "A".

Schedule "B" Land does not include alienated Crown land. All alienated Crown land may not be identified on the attached Exhibit "A" map(s).

#### Note:

- "Alienated Crown land" means Crown land which is not available for inclusion in Schedule "B" Land, and, without restricting the generality of the foregoing, includes Crown land which:
- (a) is, as of the effective date of this Agreement, within the area of:
- (i) a park or ecological reserve;
- (ii) a lease, Agreement of exclusive occupation, or timber Agreement held by a person other than the Agreement Holder, or
- (iii) a highway or road right-of-way where the highway or road is, or is deemed, declared or determined to be a public highway under the *Highway Act* or a forest service road under the *Forest Act*, or
- (b) becomes vested in the Crown by escheat, reversion, transfer or otherwise during the term of this Agreement, except as provided in the Agreement

# SCHEDULE "C"

# 1.00 BOTANICAL FOREST PRODUCTS AND OTHER PRESCRIBED PRODUCTS

1.01 NIL

#### SCHEDULE "D"

#### 1) ROADS

- a. By April 1, 2020, the holder will complete an access management plan describing the tenured roads within the Exhibit A boundary including their accessibility to different types of vehicles, the condition and maintenance level of the road and any restriction on use by members of the public
- b. The plan referred to in 1 (a) becomes part of the management plan for this agreement; the plan must be updated annually by April 1<sup>st</sup> of each calendar year and the plan must be available for viewing by the public and at a minimum must be available at the Ministry District Office for public review.

#### 2) RECREATION

- a. The agreement holder will maintain the ministry established recreation sites within the Community Forest Agreement area at its own cost to a standard acceptable to the district manager.
- b. The agreement holder will improve or create at least three recreational sites during the first five year term of the agreement at its own cost.
- c. By April 1, 2020 the agreement holder will create a recreation plan for approval for the district manager that identifies future recreation site opportunities for new sites and/or improvements for existing sites Once approve the agreement holder will maintain and develop these opportunities at the agreement holders own cost. After April 1, 2020 this plan will be updated annually by April 1<sup>st</sup> of each calendar year.

#### 3) WILDFIRE

a. By April 1, 2020 the agreement holder will identify areas of high wildfire risk within the local Community Wildfire Protection Plan and will create a plan to mitigate these issues and submit the plan for approval by the district manager. Subject to approval of the District Manager the agreement holder will complete the actions described in the plan. This plan must be updated annually by April 1<sup>st</sup> of each calendar year.

#### 4) CERTIFICATION

a. By April 1, 2021 the agreement holder will achieve and maintain an independent third party forest certification.

#### 5) ASSOCIATION MEMBERSHIP

a. Chinook will maintain membership with the British Columbia Community Forest Association.

## 6) FORESTRY RESEARCH

a. Chinook will complete at its own cost at least three studies or research papers suitable for publishing in a professional journal by April 1, 2021. The agreement holder will make these studies available to members of the public. The studies or research papers should be in the following areas: botanical forest products, fish and fisheries; riparian issues and assessments; climate change, wildlife ecology and population dynamics and other similar topics. Every five years after April 1, 2021 the agreement holder will publish at least three additional studies.

#### 7) INVENTORY

- a. The agreement holder will complete a LIDAR inventory of the agreement area by April 1, 2021 and then update the inventory by the same or similar but improved method every ten years.
- b. The agreement holder will provide at its own cost a plan to maintain and update growth and yield information on the agreement area. This plan must be endorsed by the Chief Forester of British Columbia or his/her designate by April 1, 2019. Upon endorsement the agreement holder will at its cost follow all the actions described in this plan. This plan must be updated and given endorsement every five years after April 1, 2019